RECEIVED
Aug 16 2021
SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Richland County

Honorable L. Casey Manning, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

KENNETH RAY GLEATON,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO 2019-002072

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

KATHRINE H. HUDGINS
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Did the trial judge err in refusing to bifurcate the proceedings with regard to the possession of a firearm by person convicted of violent felony to allow the jury to first determine possession and then allow the State to introduce evidence of the prior felony?
2. Did the trial judge err in admitting photographs of the burned naked body of the deceased at the crime scene when any probative value of the photographs was substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice?
3. Did the trial judge err in admitting autopsy photos when the probative value of the photographs was substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice?
4. Did the trial judge err in admitting a photograph of the deceased prior to her death when any probative value of the photograph was substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice?
5. Did the trial judge err in allowing a witness to testify that the deceased told her that on a previous occasion Appellant pulled a gun on her?
6. Did the trial judge err in refusing to recess for the day on Friday at 5:00 PM after a week-long trial and instead moving forward with closing arguments, jury instructions and deliberations?
7. Did the trial judge err in refusing to defer sentencing to allow the presentation of mitigation evidence after a week-long trial in which the jury reached a verdict at 8:30 PM on Friday night?
8. Did the trial judge err in refusing to grant a new trial based on the cumulative effect of the trial errors?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In April of 2018, the Richland County Grand Jury indicted Appellant, Kenneth Ray Gleaton, for murder and arson first degree, indictments #2018-GS-40-1418, 1419. (R. pp. 914-915, 917-918). In June of 2019, the Richland County Grand Jury indicted Appellant for possession of a firearm by person convicted of violent felony and desecration of human remains, indictments #2019-GS-40-4077, 4079. (R. pp. 922-923, 925-926). In July of 2019, the arson indictment was amended from first degree to second degree. (R. pp. 919-920). On Monday, October 28, 2019, Appellant proceeded to jury trial before the Honorable L. Casey Manning. Sarah Jurick, Maise Osteen and Laura Young represented Appellant at trial. April Sampson, Vance Eaton and Stephanie Taylor prosecuted the case. On Friday, November 1, 2019, the jury returned verdicts of guilty on all four indictments. Judge Manning sentenced Appellant to life for murder, twenty (20) years concurrent for arson second degree, five (5) years concurrent for the firearm charge and ten (10) years concurrent for desecration of human remains. (R. p. 899). Appellant filed a timely motion for new trial and sentencing hearing on November 12, 2019. (R. p. 928). Judge Manning denied the motion for new trial in a written order signed December 9, 2019. (R. p. 959). A timely notice of intent to appeal was served on December 19, 2019. (Supp. R. p. 19). This appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Just prior to midnight on October 9, 2017, first responders were called to a house fire at the home of Amanda Peele, Appellant's girlfriend. (R. p. 122, line 23 – p. 123, lines 1-3). Peele's burned body was found inside the house. (R. p. 116, line 13 – p. 117, lines 1-21; R. p. 169, lines 11-24). She was pronounced dead at the scene. A forensic pathologist testified that Peele did not die as a result of the fire but instead from a combination of a blow to the head, strangulation and two gunshot wounds, all of which happened before the fire. (R. p. 471, line 8 – p. 472, lines 1-2). A gun was not recovered. The fire was determined to have not been accidental. (R. p. 229, line 5 – p. 230, lines 1-22).

Investigators interviewed Roderick "Mike" Dukes at the scene of the fire. (R. p. 613, lines 12-20). Dukes testified at trial that he was at the house with Appellant and Peele earlier on the evening of October 9, 2017. (R. pp. 493-500). Dukes claimed that while he was playing a video game he heard gunshots and went back to a bedroom where he saw Appellant choking Peele with a belt. (R. pp. 501-507, lines 1-16). According to Dukes, Peele was already dead. Dukes testified that he ran out of the house and to the Circle K where he could use their Wi-Fi to contact his friend Toya. (R. p. 509, lines 1-25). In the messages, which were introduced at trial, he asked Toya to come and get him because he was in big trouble and needed to leave this side of town. (R. p. 512, line 8 – p. 513, lines 1-25; Supp. R. p. 4).

Dukes' friend, LaToya Riley, testified at trial that Dukes contacted her via Facebook messenger at 9:30 PM on October 9, 2017, asking for help. (R. p. 568, line 9 – p. 569, lines 1-25; Supp. R. p. 1). Riley testified that she picked Dukes up at the Circle K a half of a mile from Peele's house around 11:45 PM. (R. p. 579, line 9 – p. 580, lines 1-9). Dukes told Riley a story of what happened at Peele's house and she told him that he needed to call the police. (R. p. 580,

line 21 – p. 581, lines 1-5). Dukes, however, did not want to call the police. (R. p. 581, lines 4-5). Instead, they drove to the Waffle House where Dukes talked to Peele’s roommate, Jessica Gantt. (R. p. 581, lines 6-14). While Dukes was speaking with Gantt, Riley called the police. (R. p. 537, lines 1-12; p. 581, lines 15-23). Riley, Dukes and Gantt then drove to Peele’s house and found that the house was on fire. (R. p. 522, line 3 – p. 523, lines 1-7). Investigators interviewed Dukes and tested his hands for gun shot residue [GSR]. (R. p. 266, lines 6-24; p. 523, lines 9-21). The State’s expert testified that no particles characteristic of GSR residue primer were detected from the kit collected from Dukes. (R. p. 556, lines 5-14). The defense expert, however, testified that he would classify the particles found as consistent with GSR. (R. p. 719, lines 5-6).

The next day, Dukes sent Riley a message that he found one of “her” bloody bags in the woods. (R. p. 538, lines 15-17; Supp. R. p. 8-9). When Riley told Dukes he needed to turn the bag in as evidence, Dukes replied, “Oops. Did I say I was keeping it? I meant to say turn it in.” (R. p. 538, lines 18-20; Supp. R. p. 9-10). The bag was never turned over to police. (R. p. 636, lines 16-25). When Riley told Dukes that the investigators wanted to speak with him again, Dukes replied, “Let them know I’m watching porn.” (R. p. 539, lines 13-18; Supp. R. p. 12-13).

After speaking with Dukes, investigators obtained an arrest warrant for Appellant. (R. p. 615, lines 5-13). Appellant was arrested the next day under the Gervais Street bridge where he told a witness his girlfriend just died. (R. p. 241, lines 16-18; pp.246-249). The witness saw Appellant remove a SIM card and throw a cell phone into the river. (R. p. 241, line 4 – p. 242, lines 1-6). The phone was recovered from the river and introduced in evidence at trial as State’s exhibit #108. (R. p. 323, line 1 – p. 324, lines 1-12). A SIM card was found in Appellant’s pocket when he was arrested. (R. p. 326, line 22 – p. 327, 328, lines 1-15). A witness testified

that the SIM card found in Appellant's pocket belonged to the phone found in the river and was associated with phone number 803-201-5645 belonging to the deceased, Amanda Peele. (R. p. 359, line 15 – p. 360, lines 1-17; p. 382, lines 15-16).

After his arrest, Appellant provided a written statement to law enforcement which was introduced in evidence as State's exhibit #115. (R. p. 346, lines 1-22; R. p. 901). In the statement Appellant admitted having an argument with Peele but denied harming her or setting the fire. (R. pp. 902, 904). Appellant stated that "Mike" was at the house when he left and Peele was in bed after taking pain medication. (R. p. 902). Appellant admitted to taking Peele's cell phone and throwing it in the river. (R. pp. 902-903). Appellant stated that after he left Peele's house, he walked to his friend Roy's house but then slept under a bridge by the river. (R. p. 903). Appellant returned to Roy's house the next morning and Roy gave him a clean pair of shorts and twenty dollars in cash. (R. p. 904).

Cyril "Roy" Brasley testified that the police came to his salon looking for Appellant. (R. p. 669, lines 13-24). Appellant came to the salon after the police left and Brasley recorded part of their conversation on his phone. (R. p. 670, line 17 – p. 671, lines 1-24). The video was admitted in evidence as State's exhibit #111 over defense objection. (R. p. 672, lines 9-23). Brasley agreed that in the video Appellant told him he set the house on fire. (R. p. 674, line 25 – p. 675, line 1). Brasley also testified that Appellant told him that Mike was a part of it. (R. p. 675, lines 14-15). On cross-examination Brasley testified, "He said he – he said it wasn't me. I didn't – I didn't hurt her. I didn't do something. And that's when he started talking about Mike's involvement it and that's what prompted me to like get my phone out" (R. p. 687, lines 11-14). Roderick "Mike" Dukes admitted that he had a habit of lying to the police. (R. p. 541,

lines 2-6). Dukes, however, was never charged in connection with the incident. (R. p. 541, line 25 -p. 542, lines 1-3).

ARGUMENTS

- 1. The trial judge erred in refusing to bifurcate the proceedings with regard to the possession of a firearm by person convicted of violent felony to allow the jury to first determine possession and then allow the State to introduce evidence of the prior felony.**

Standard of Review

In State v. Cross, 427 S.C. 465, 473, 832 S.E.2d 281, 285 (2019), the South Carolina

Supreme Court wrote:

In criminal cases, appellate courts sit to review errors of law only. State v. Baccus, 367 S.C. 41, 48, 625 S.E.2d 216, 220 (2006). “The appellate court reviews a trial [court’s] ruling on admissibility of evidence pursuant to an abuse of discretion standard and gives great deference to the trial court.” State v. Torres, 390 S.C. 618, 625, 703 S.E.2d 226, 230 (2010). “An abuse of discretion occurs when the conclusions of the trial court either lack evidentiary support or are controlled by an error of law.” State v. Douglas, 369 S.C. 424, 429-30, 632 S.E.2d 845, 848 (2006). “[T]he conduct of a trial is largely within the discretion of the presiding judge, to the end that a fair and impartial trial may be had.” State v. Heath, 232 S.C. 384, 391, 102 S.E.2d 268, 272 (1958).

Argument

Prior to trial Appellant moved to bifurcate the proceedings with regard to the possession of a firearm by a person convicted of a violent felony to allow the jury to first determine possession and then allow the State to introduce evidence of the prior violent felony. (R. p. 21, line 12 – p. 22, p. 23, lines 1-4). The judge denied the request stating, “No. I’m not bifurcating it. I’m not gonna do that. We’re gonna do it all. We’re gonna go through the whole thing one time. I’m not bifurcating anything.” (R. p. 21, lines 21-24). Alternatively, Appellant offered to stipulate to the prior conviction. (R. p. 21, line 25 – p. 22, lines 1-2). The State would not agree to the stipulation but agreed to only reference a prior violent felony conviction without referring to the fact that the prior conviction was for arson, one of the charges for which Appellant stood trial. (R. p. 22, lines 5-16). Appellant objected. (R. p. 22, lines 19-20). The judge overruled the

objection. (R. p. 22, lines 21-22). At trial Investigator Hinson with the Richland County Sherriff's Department testified that Appellant was convicted of a violent crime in October of 1996. (R. p. 626, line 21 – p. 627, lines 1-4). The objection to the refusal to bifurcate was renewed at the close of the State's case. (R. p. 696, lines 23-25). The trial judge erred in refusing to bifurcate the proceedings. The probative value of the prior conviction, at the time it was admitted at trial, was substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice.

Appellant was indicted for violating S.C. Code §16-23-500 which provides that "It is unlawful for a person who has been convicted of a violent crime, as defined by Section 16-1-60, that is classified as a felony offense, to possess a firearm or ammunition within this State." A prior violent felony conviction is an element of the crime. A bifurcated proceeding would allow the State to present evidence of both the element of possession and the element of a prior violent felony conviction without unfairly prejudicing Appellant. The fact that the State only referred to a "prior violent felony" conviction rather specifically naming the prior conviction for arson does not remove the prejudicial effect of the jury learning that Appellant had a prior violent felony conviction before deciding guilt on the other felony charges for which Appellant stood trial.

In State v. Cross, 427 S.C. 465, 479, 832 S.E.2d 281, 288–89 (2019), a case decided before Appellant's October 2019 trial, the South Carolina Supreme Court addressed a trial judge's refusal to bifurcate the proceedings in a trial for first degree criminal sexual conduct with a minor charge where a prior conviction for criminal sexual conduct with a minor was an element of the offense, and wrote:

Rule 403, SCRE, provides the trial court may exclude relevant evidence if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues, misleading the jury, etc. Here, the probative value of the evidence of the prior conviction is undeniable, as the State must prove the

conviction as an element of the crime charged. However, even evidence with such significant probative value remains subject to the application of Rule 403, and the trial court is duty-bound to determine whether the probative value of this evidence is substantially outweighed by one or more of the considerations identified in Rule 403. Evidence of the 1992 conviction is in no way probative of the threshold issue of whether Cross committed a sexual battery upon Minor in 2005. Necessarily, therefore, the question of when evidence of the prior conviction should be admitted comes sharply into focus. In this case, the integrity of Rule 403 and the obligation of the State to introduce necessary evidence are both salvaged by the application of Rule 611(a), SCRE, which provides in pertinent part: “The court *shall exercise reasonable control over the mode and order of* interrogating witnesses and *presenting evidence* so as to (1) make the interrogation and presentation effective for the ascertainment of the truth” (emphasis added). Under the facts before us, Rule 611(a) required the trial court to exercise control over the order of presenting evidence in such a way that (1) allowed the State to prove an element of the crime, and (2) at the same time guarded against a violation of Rule 403.

A majority of the Court found that the trial judge should have bifurcated the proceedings and reversed the conviction and remanded for a new trial.

While the present case involves a prior violent felony conviction with no reference to the specific violent felony, the reasoning of the Cross case should still apply. The prior violent felony conviction is not probative of whether Appellant committed the crimes for which he was charged and convicted. The prior conviction is only probative because it is an element of the weapon charge. The jury, however, hearing of the prior violent felony conviction in one proceeding, could have decided guilt on an improper basis. Pursuant to Rule 403, SCRE, the probative value of the prior conviction, at the time it was introduced, was substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice. The bifurcated proceeding would have allowed the State to introduce evidence of the prior conviction element without undue prejudice to the Appellant. The trial judge erred in refusing to bifurcate the proceedings and the error requires reversal, as in Cross.

- 2. The trial judge erred in admitting photographs of the burned naked body of the deceased at the crime scene when any probative value of the photographs was substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice.**

Standard of Review

“In criminal cases, the appellate court sits to review errors of law only.” State v. Baccus, 367 S.C. 41, 48, 625 S.E.2d 216, 220 (2006). “This Court is bound by the trial court's factual findings unless they are clearly erroneous.” Id. “The admission or exclusion of evidence is a matter addressed to the sound discretion of the trial court and its ruling will not be disturbed in the absence of a manifest abuse of discretion accompanied by probable prejudice.” State v. Wise, 359 S.C. 14, 21, 596 S.E.2d 475, 478 (2004). “An abuse of discretion occurs when the conclusions of the trial court either lack evidentiary support or are controlled by an error of law.” Id. State v. Collins, 409 S.C. 524, 529–30, 763 S.E.2d 22, 25 (2014).

Argument

At trial and outside of the presence of the jury, Appellant raised concerns about six color photos marked for identification as State’s exhibits #4, #7, #8, #9, #10 and #11. (R. p. 124, line 5 – p. 125 – 131). The judge initially ruled that the photos were not admissible. (R. p. 125, lines 3-5). The State argued, “The coroner would be testifying to these, Your Honor, in terms of what the body looked like when the coroner first saw the body in terms of the markings - -” (R. p. 125, lines 14-17). The coroner responded to the scene on the night of the fire. (R. pp 161-162). The judge then asked the prosecutor, “Can’t you have them changed to black and white? These are gruesome.” (R. p. 125, lines 23-24). The State agreed to substitute the color photos for black and white photos. (R. p. 125, line 25 – p. 126, lines 1-25). Appellant objected to the substituted black and white photos stating, “- - - in black and white. They’re still gruesome. They’re overly prejudicial. They’re not probative to anything in issue in this case. The coroner can testify what

the body looked like when she arrived and what she observed.” (R. p. 127, lines 15-19). Counsel for Appellant argued, “The pictures don’t demonstrate anything more than what she’s able to testify about.” (R. p. 127, lines 21-22). Counsel for Appellant cited to State v. Collins, S.C. 409 S.C. 524, 763 S.E.2d 22 (2014). (R. p. 128, lines 1-21). The State argued, “The State’s position, Your Honor, is that they’re not overly gruesome.” (R. p. 128, lines 24-25).

The judge then ruled, “I agree. These ones are in black and white. Your requested motion is respectfully denied. Anything further?” (R. p. 129, lines 1-3). Counsel for Appellant stated, “It’s not the substance of the photographs. It is, is it probative to anything in dispute in this particular case.” (R. p. 129, line 24 – p. 130, line 1). Once counsel confirmed that the judge was allowing all six of the black and white photos, she objected to the photos on the ground that they are duplicative. (R. p. 130, lines 12-17). The judge ruled, “All right. You have objected three times. My decision has not changed.” (R. p. 130, lines 18-19). The State then noted that the black and white photos were re-numbered State’s exhibit’s #46 - #51 and were “submitted.” (R. p. 131, lines 8-13).

When the coroner was called as a witness there was some confusion as to whether the black and white photos, State’s exhibits #46 - #51, had been admitted in evidence. (R. p. 157, lines 10-11; p. 159, lines 4-25). The State appears to seek to introduce the photos, in a proffer outside the presence of the jury without establishing who took the photos. (R. p. 159, line 24 – p. 160, lines 1-7). Appellant, through defense counsel Osteen, again objected. (R. p. 160, lines 6-7). The judge ruled, “Overruled with all caps on all basis. Bring the jury in.” (R. p. 160, lines 8-9). After some questioning, the prosecutor approached the coroner with State’s exhibits #46 - #51. (R. p. 166, lines 10-11). The transcript reflects that another member of the defense team, Ms. Jurick stated, “No objection.” (R. p. 166, line 12). The judge then asked if the photos had

already been admitted and the prosecutor confirmed that State's exhibits #46 - #51 had been admitted in evidence. (R. p. 166, lines 13-15). Although there is an apparent statement of "no objection" in the transcript, State's exhibits #46-#51 were strongly objected to and had already been admitted in evidence. The objections to these photos are preserved for appellate review. The objection to the photos was renewed at the close of the State's case. (R. p. 697, lines 2-4).

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