RECEIVED

Aug 16 2021

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Court of General Sessions
The Honorable L. Casey Manning, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2019-002072

THE STATE,RESPONDENT,

v.

KENNETH RAY GLEATON,APPELLANT.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney
General

WILLIAM F. SCHUMACHER, IV
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3713

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

Finally, Appellant’s interpretation of the rule is nonsensical because regardless of whether Victim was present when Appellant adopted the statement, her statement would, by definition, be hearsay without his adoption of its veracity. Appellant could, regardless of the Victim’s presence when the statement was adopted, argue that Appellant “heard, understood and acquiesced to pulling a gun during the prior incident.” Simply put, Victim’s presence when the statement was adopted did not, in any way, impact his ability to challenge its admission at trial. Accordingly, the trial judge did not err in admitting the statement pursuant to Rule 801(d)(2)(B), SCRE.

⁵ Appellant misquotes Knoten in his brief. Notably, Appellant’s brief quotes nearly the same section of Knoten cited in this brief but omits the sentence immediately following his quoted passage in which the Supreme Court acknowledged that Knoten’s later confession, made outside the presence of his mother, functioned as an adoption of his mother’s statements to him. Compare (Br. of Appellant, pp.24–25) with (Br. of Respondent, pp.35)

V.

The trial judge properly acted within his discretion by allowing the jury to decide whether they would like to move forward with closing arguments and deliberations on the last day of the first week of trial or continue the proceedings the following Monday. (Appellant's Issue 6)

Appellant argues the trial judge erred in refusing to recess for the day on Friday at 5:00 p.m. and instead moving forward with closing arguments, jury instructions, and jury deliberations. The State disagree with this allegation of error. The trial judge acted in his discretion in denying the request for the recess given it was the jurors themselves who elected to move forward.

At 4:00 p.m. on Friday, November 1, a break was held so that trial counsel could speak with a potential final witness. After a short break, trial counsel announced that no further witnesses would be called and that the defense rested its case. At that point, the trial judge observed that, with jury instructions and closing arguments, the jury would likely not begin deliberations until approximately 6:00 p.m. Given that likely timetable, the trial judge announced he planned to ask the jury whether they preferred to stay the rest of the day and begin deliberations or delay the remainder of the proceedings to the following Monday. (R.p.822, line 13–R.p.824, line 19)

After a short break, the trial judge went back on the record to inform the parties that he had discussed the matter with the jurors and they were considering the matter. After another short break, the trial judge informed the parties that the jurors had sent a note expressing their desire to continue with the matter that day after a short break. The trial judge noted that dinner needed to be ordered for the jurors as a result. Trial counsel objected to continuing that day, arguing “[p]ursuant to the Fifth, Sixth, and Fourteenth Amendments and in violation of due

process, [because] it ha[d] been a long week” and the jurors were tired. The trial judge overruled the objection, explaining the jurors themselves elected to continue with the trial. Closing arguments began at approximately 5:00 p.m., jury instructions began around 6:25 p.m., deliberations began at 7:00 p.m., and the jury reached its verdict on all charges around 8:30 p.m. (R.p.824, line 20–R.p.826, line 8).

“As with requests for a trial continuance, requests for a recess during trial are within the trial judge's discretion, and will be reversed on appeal only upon a showing of an abuse of that discretion.” State v. Mitchell, 330 S.C. 189, 192, 498 S.E.2d 642, 644 (1998) (citing State v. Durden, 264 S.C. 86, 212 S.E.2d 587 (1975) and State v. Meyers, 262 S.C. 222, 203 S.E.2d 678 (1974)). To demonstrate reversible error in a trial court’s denial of a motion to recess, a defendant must show prejudice stemming from the trial court’s denial of the motion. State v. Brannon, 341 S.C. 271, 276, 533 S.E.2d 345, 347 (Ct. App. 2000) (citing Mitchell, 330 S.C. at 194, 498 S.E.2d at 644–45).

In the instant case, Appellant has failed to provide any evidence that he was prejudiced by the trial judge’s refusal to delay the proceedings which, alone, merits denial of his request for reversal of his convictions. See id.

Notably, Appellant’s only argument is that by refusing to recess on November 1, the trial judge “forced” the jury into deliberations which resulted in a “coerced” verdict. Bizarrely, Appellant equates his situation with that of a coercive Allen⁶ charge compelling a verdict. Appellant’s argument is fundamentally flawed: the instant case is the opposite of one involving a coercive Allen instruction because the trial judge did not force the jury to deliberate; instead, the jurors made the decision themselves to continue with the trial instead of recessing until the

⁶ Allen v. United States, 164 U.S. 492 (1896)

following week. Thus, it was impossible for the trial judge to “force” deliberations or “coerce” a verdict.

Accordingly, the trial judge did not err in refusing trial counsel’s request to recess the trial.

VI.

The trial judge did not abuse his discretion in refusing Appellant’s request to defer sentencing because the reason for Appellant’s request, the absence of a character witness, was due to his own failure to act with due diligence in securing the witness’s attendance. Further, any purported error was harmless when the trial judge was later presented with an affidavit containing the witness’s statements and, after consideration, refused to change Appellant’s sentence. (Appellant’s Issue 7)

Appellant argues the trial judge erred in refusing to defer his sentencing hearing until the following Monday to give him the weekend to secure the attendance of family members. Initially, the State would note that Appellant stated that his mother was the sole witness he planned to have testify and the attendance of other witnesses was not mentioned to the trial judge. As to the merits of Appellant’s claim, the State asseverates the trial judge acted within his discretion in denying the request because Appellant failed to act with due diligence in obtaining the attendance of Appellant’s mother and other family members, especially when they had attended the trial throughout the week and trial counsel failed to explain why Appellant’s mother was unavailable at that time. Regardless, any alleged error is harmless given that the defense presented this same information to the trial judge in affidavits submitted with its post-trial motions and the trial judge, after reviewing this information, refused to modify Appellant’s sentences.

The Witnesses' Unavailability is Appellant's Fault

“The trial court’s denial of a motion for a continuance will not be disturbed on appeal absent a clear abuse of discretion.” State v. Morris, 376 S.C. 189, 208, 656 S.E.2d 359, 369 (2008) (citing State v. McMillian, 349 S.C. 17, 21, 561 S.E.2d 602, 604 (2002)). “An abuse of discretion arises from an error of law or a factual conclusion that is without evidentiary support.” State v. Meggett, 398 S.C. 516, 523, 728 S.E.2d 492, 496 (Ct. App. 2012). “Reversals of refusal of a continuance are about as rare as the proverbial hens’ teeth.” State v. McMillian, 349 S.C. 17, 21, 561 S.E.2d 602, 604 (2002) (citing State v. Lytchfield, 230 S.C. 405, 95 S.E.2d 857 (1957)).

Rule 7 of the Criminal Rules of Procedure states:

No motion for continuance of trial shall be granted on account of the absence of a witness without the oath of the party, his counsel, or agent to the following effect: the testimony of the witness is material to the support of the action or defense of the party moving; the motion is not intended for delay, but is made solely because he cannot go safely to trial without such testimony; and **has made use of due diligence to procure the testimony of the witness** or of such other circumstances as will satisfy the court that his motion is not intended for delay.

(1) When a subpoena has been issued, the original shall be produced with proof of service or the reason why not served endorsed thereon or attached thereto; or if lost the same proof shall be offered with additional proof of the loss of the original subpoena.

(2) A party applying for such postponement on account of the absence of a witness shall set forth under oath in addition to the foregoing matter what fact or facts he believes the witness if present would testify to and the grounds for such belief.

Rule 7(b), SCRCrimP (emphasis added). A continuance is not automatically given because a witness is unavailable. The court has discretion to determine whether due diligence was used to try and secure the witness’s testimony. In the instant case, the trial court clearly found due

diligence was not used by Appellant’s counsel because he did not seek the continuance prior to trial and, instead, waited until the fourth day of trial.

This Court has made it abundantly clear: “It is paramount that the party asking for the continuance **show ‘due diligence’ was used in trying to procure the absent witness.**” State v. Colden, 372 S.C. 428, 439, 641 S.E.2d 912, 918-19 (Ct. App. 2007) (emphasis added). This Court has also explained the primary requirements for obtaining a continuance based on an absent witness—even one that is unexpectedly absent: “The party asking for the continuance **must show due diligence was used in trying to procure the testimony of an absent witness as well as set forth what the party believes the absent witness will testify to and the grounds for that belief.**” State v. Yarborough, 363 S.C. 260, 266, 609 S.E.2d 592, 595 (Ct. App. 2005) (emphasis added).

In the instant case, trial counsel, for some unknown reason, did not have Appellant’s family members waiting for the jury verdict and sentencing. The trial judge offered to wait for Appellant’s family members to arrive at the court, but trial counsel, without explanation, claimed she did not have a phone number for Appellant’s mother. However, trial counsel failed to explain why she failed to obtain her attendance for the reading of the jury’s verdict or for the sentencing hearing despite the mother’s attendance at Appellant’s trial throughout the week. Trial counsel also apparently planned on having Appellant’s grandmother testify on his behalf during sentencing given trial counsel’s inclusion of her affidavit with the post-trial motion, yet she was in no way referenced at sentencing and trial counsel has failed to provide any explanation why she was also absent at that time. The only reasonable conclusion that can be drawn from the record was these character witnesses were unavailable at sentencing due solely to trial counsel’s negligence.

Accordingly, as a result of counsel's complete lack of due diligence in seeking to secure the testimony of Appellant's family members, the trial court properly denied his motion for a continuance. Appellant cannot claim error when it was trial counsel's duty to ensure Appellant's family members remained close by and available to testify at Appellant's sentencing hearing. Appellant's counsel failed to exercise the "paramount" responsibility prior to seeking a continuance; the party asking for the continuance must "show 'due diligence' was used in trying to procure the absent witness." Colden, 372 S.C. at 439, 641 S.E.2d at 918-19. As a result, this Court should affirm the trial court's decision and affirm Appellant's convictions and sentences.

Harmless Error

Generally, appellate courts will not set aside convictions due to insubstantial errors not affecting the result. State v. Bryant, 369 S.C. 511, 518, 633 S.E.2d 152, 156 (2006); State v. Heller, 399 S.C. 157, 171, 731 S.E.2d 312, 320 (Ct. App. 2012). Thus, an insubstantial error not affecting the result of the trial is harmless where a defendant's guilt has been conclusively proven by competent evidence such that no other rational conclusion can be reached. Bryant at 518, 633 S.E.2d at 156. "A harmless error analysis is contextual and specific to the circumstances of the case: No definite rule of law governs a finding of harmless error; rather the materiality and prejudicial character of the error must be determined from its relationship to the entire case. Further, it is well settled that the admission of improper evidence is harmless where it is merely cumulative to other evidence." Heller, 399 S.C. at 171, 731 S.E.2d at 320.

Any alleged error in failing to defer sentencing was harmless. Notably, trial counsel made a post-trial motion for a new trial and sentencing hearing and submitted affidavits from Appellant's mother and grandmother in which they set forth the reasons they believed the trial judge should have considered when sentencing Appellant; the trial judge reviewed those

affidavits before issuing his ordering denying a new trial and sentencing hearing. (Mot. For New Trial and Sentencing Hearing, pp.14–16; Affidavit of Lillie Marie Stevenson; Affidavit of Hazel Gleaton; Order Denying Motion for New Trial and Sentencing Hearing). Thus, the trial judge was ultimately presented with the information and found it did not impact his original sentences.

This result was not unexpected: the assertions in the affidavits, which alleged Appellant grew up in a challenging environment, were unable to justify or mitigate his criminal acts. As proven by the State, Appellant assaulted Victim on multiple occasions and during the last incident murdered her after a violent assault which included strangulation and multiple gunshot wounds. After committing his murder, Appellant did not express remorse; he instead set fire to Victim's corpse and home after looting the latter's expensive electronics and stashing the items in the woods. Appellant then attempted to escape town and run away to Texas to avoid prosecution for his acts. Even worse, Appellant's trial strategy was to pin his crimes on Dukes and have him take the fall for his cold and calculated actions. The State asseverates that the information contained in the affidavits could not have had any meaningful impact on the trial judge's sentencing decisions.

Accordingly, Appellant is unable to demonstrate that presentation of this evidence at trial would have had any impact on his sentencing. See Bryant at 518, 633 S.E.2d at 156.

The Appropriate Remedy for the Alleged Error

Finally, should this Court find the trial judge committed reversible error in failing to continue the trial to allow Appellant's mother to testify, the only appropriate remedy or Appellant is a new sentencing proceeding. Notably, the alleged error in sentencing had no impact on the events of Appellant's trial.

VII.

This Court should deny Appellant's request for a new trial based on the Cumulative Error Doctrine because said theory is not recognized under South Carolina law. Further, the issue is not preserved for appellate review because Appellant failed to present this ground for relief to the trial judge. (Appellant's Issue 8)

Appellant argues the cumulative effect of the errors argued above create reversible error in his case. The State disagrees with this allegation. This ground was not raised at trial and is therefore not preserved for review. Further, the trial judge's decisions were not error and do not justify the grant of a new trial.

The exact name of the legal doctrine employed does not need to be used to preserve an argument, but it must be clear that the argument has been presented on that ground. State v. Russell, 345 S.C. 128, 546 S.E.2d 202 (Ct. App. 2001).

The cumulative error doctrine provides relief to a party when a combination of errors, insignificant by themselves, has the effect of preventing the party from receiving a fair trial, and the cumulative effect of the errors affects the outcome of the trial. State v. Beekman, 405 S.C. 225, 237, 746 S.E.2d 483, 490 (Ct. App. 2013) (citing State v. Johnson, 334 S.C. 78, 93, 512 S.E.2d 795, 803 (1999)). An appellant must demonstrate more than error in order to qualify for reversal pursuant to the cumulative error doctrine; rather, he must show the errors adversely affected his right to a fair trial to qualify for reversal on this ground. Id.; see also State v. McEachern, 399 S.C. 125, 150, 731 S.E. 2d 604, 617 (Ct. App. 2012) (stating, "even if the court did commit any errors, we believe those errors to be harmless such that Hollie can show neither prejudice, nor that the errors affected her right to a fair trial"). The Constitution entitles a criminal defendant to a fair trial, not a perfect one. State v. Mitchell, 330 S.C. 189, 199-200, 498 S.E.2d 642, 647-48 (1998) (finding reversal on cumulative error doctrine not warranted).

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